

104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

104 CMR 28.00: ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~ LICENSING AND ~~\_\_~~ OPERATIONAL STANDARDS FOR  
COMMUNITY SERVICES

28.01: Scope

SUBPART A: STANDARDS FOR COMMUNITY SERVICES

28.02: Standards to Promote Recovery and Resiliency

28.03: Legal and Human Rights

28.04: Protection from Mistreatment

28.05: Prohibition of Medication and Mechanical Restraint or Seclusion; Prevention of Physical Restraint;  
and Requirements for Emergency Physical Restraint When Necessary

28.06: Medication

28.07: ~~—~~ Labor

28.08: ~~—~~ Possessions

28.09: ~~—~~ Records and Record Privacy

28.10: ~~—~~ Legal Capacity, Guardianship and Conservatorship

28.11: ~~—~~ Human Rights Committee; Human Rights Officer

28.12: ~~—~~ Standards Applicable to ~~A~~ all Services

SUBPART B: ~~\_\_~~ STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL SERVICE SITES ~~\_~~

28.13: ~~—~~ Physical Standards

28.14: ~~—~~ Self-~~Preservation~~ preservation Standards

SUBPART C: STANDARDS FOR COMMUNITY CRISIS STABILIZATION SERVICES (CCS)

28.15: General Provisions

28.16: Community Crisis Stabilization Services for Adults (ACS)

28.17: Community Crisis Stabilization Services for Youth (YCS)

28.18: Additional Requirements for All CCS Services

SUBPART D: LICENSING REQUIREMENTS AND COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS

~~28.15:—19:~~ General Provisions

~~28.16:—20:~~ Process for Obtaining or Renewing a License

~~28.17:—21:~~ Licensing, Compliance and Enforcement

~~28.01:—~~ Scope

(1) ~~(1) Scope.—~~

- (a) 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart A* applies to all community mental health services which are operated, licensed or contracted for by the Department and establishes standards for such services.—

(b) 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart B* applies to all private residential sites which are subject to licensing pursuant to 104 CMR 28.15 ~~and 19~~ as well as state operated residential sites and establishes standards for such sites.

(c) 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart C* applies to all Community Crisis Stabilization Services which are subject to licensing pursuant to 104 CMR 28.19 and establishes standards for such services. Subpart C also specifies provisions of Subpart B that apply to Community Crisis Stabilization Services.

~~(e)~~(d) 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart D* specifies the residential and Community Crisis Stabilization Services sites that are subject to licensure, and the provisions for enforcement of *Subparts A, B and B-as-to-C* for all community mental health services which are operated, licensed or contracted for by the Department.

~~(d)~~(e) ~~(d)~~—Services and residential sites that are subject to licensure by the Department of Early Education and Care pursuant to M.G.L.c. 15D are not subject to licensure under the provisions 104 CMR 28.00, ~~Subparts B and C~~; provided, however, that provisions of 104 CMR 28.00, ~~Subpart A~~ that do not conflict with licensing requirements of the Department of Early Education and Care shall apply to such services and residential sites if operated or contracted for by the Department. -Compliance with such provisions shall be enforced in accordance with 104 CMR 28.1519(2)(c).

~~(e)~~—~~f)~~ The Department may waive or exempt by contract certain provision~~provisions~~ of 104 CMR 28.00 that have no practical application to a particular service, such as services purchased for a specific single individual.

(2)——— Definitions. For purposes of 104 CMR 28.00, the following definitions shall apply:-

Community Crisis Stabilization for Adults (ACS). A sub-acute community based mental health service for adults with mental illness, substance use disorder or comorbid mental illness and substance use disorders who are in need of staff-secure, safe, and structured crisis stabilization and treatment services that serves as a medically necessary, less restrictive, and voluntary alternative to inpatient psychiatric hospitalization.

Community Crisis Stabilization for Youth (YCS). A sub-acute community mental health service for youth up to and including age 18 who have emotional or behavioral issues or comorbid emotional or behavioral issues with substance use disorders who are in need of crisis stabilization in a 24-hour unlocked community treatment setting.

Community Crisis Stabilization Service (CCS). CCS includes both Adult Crisis Stabilization and Youth Crisis Stabilization.

Director. The senior administrator(s) for a provider who has overall responsibility for a service. -Except where otherwise specified, a ~~Director's~~Director's responsibilities under 104 CMR 28.00 may be delegated by the Director to appropriate designated administrator(s) within the service.

104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD). The use of medication(s) approved by the federal Food and Drug Administration (FDA), in combination with counseling and behavioral therapies, for the treatment of an opioid related substance use disorder.

Office of Community Licensing. The Departmental unit charged with issuing of licenses pursuant to, and oversight and enforcement of 104 CMR 28.00.

Person. An individual who ~~receives~~receives mental health services subject to 104 CMR 28.00.

Provider. The entity responsible for the provision of a service, including without limitation the operation of a residential ~~site~~ or Community Crisis Stabilization Service site.

Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (Psychiatric APRN). A registered nurse licensed under G.L. c. 112, § 80B and authorized by the Board of Registration in Nursing to practice as a Psychiatric Advanced Practice Registered Nurse, including authorization to practice as a Psychiatric Mental Health Nurse Clinical Specialist.

Qualified Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (Qualified APRN). A registered nurse licensed under G.L. c. 112, § 80B and authorized by the Board of Registration in Nursing to practice as an Advanced Practice Registered Nurse.

Residential Site. A clinical and recovery-oriented environment supported by staff where one or more persons reside or are provided with sleeping accommodations. A Community Crisis Stabilization Service is not a residential site for purposes of 104 CMR 28.00.

Service. A community mental health service that is operated, licensed, or contracted for by the Department.

Service Site. The location where services are provided, including residential sites. ~~The term and Community Crisis Stabilization Service sites.~~ Service Site shall include the provider's administrative offices where applicable.

Sub-acute: A short-term, intensive, and recovery-oriented treatment intervention designed to stabilize an individual who is experiencing a decreased level of functioning due to a mental health condition.

SUBPART A:—STANDARDS FOR COMMUNITY SERVICES

28.02:— Standards to Promote Recovery and Resiliency

The Department establishes the following standards to promote recovery and resiliency, and to support and increase the capacity of persons who receive services subject to 104 CMR 28.00 for independent living in the community. Providers shall provide services which promote:

- (1) ~~(1)~~ Human dignity and respect;
- (2) ~~(2)~~ Humane and adequate care, treatment and treatment environments;
- (3) ~~(3)~~ Person-centered planning, self-determination and freedom of choice and personal responsibility;
- (4) ~~(4)~~ The opportunity to receive services which are, to the maximum extent possible, culturally competent, adequate, responsive to a person's needs, and least restrictive of a person's freedom;
- (5) The opportunity to move toward independent living; and
- (6) The opportunity for normal life experiences, even if such experiences may entail an element of risk; provided, however, that a person's safety or well-being or that of others shall not be unreasonably jeopardized.

28.03: Legal and Human Rights

- (1) ~~(1)~~ The utmost care shall be taken to protect the legal and human rights of all persons who receive services. These rights shall not be exercised in a manner as to infringe on the rights of other persons and staff. No person shall be subjected to retaliation as a result of the exercise of any right under any provision of the ~~Department's~~ Department's regulations or other provision of law. These rights include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - (a) ~~(a)~~ The right to be free from unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, creed, national origin, color, ethnicity, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical or mental disability or degree of disability, or such other bases as may be prohibited by law. However, classifications based on age, sex, or category or degree of disability shall not be considered discriminatory if based on written criteria developed by a provider and approved by the Department.
  - (b) ~~(b)~~ The right to religious freedom and practice without compulsion according to the preference of the person;
  - (c) ~~(c)~~ The right to vote, unless a minor or under guardianship which expressly restricts such right. Persons shall receive reasonable assistance when desired in registering and voting, and accessing voter registration information. Such assistance shall be provided in a non-partisan and non-coercive manner;
  - (d) ~~(d)~~ The right to communicate, including:
    1. ~~1.~~ The right to have reasonable access to a telephone and to make and receive confidential calls and to assistance, when desired and necessary to implement this right, provided that such calls do not constitute a criminal act or represent an unreasonable infringement of another ~~person's~~ person's rights to make and receive telephone calls;

104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

- 2.2.—The unrestricted right to send and receive uncensored and unopened mail, to be provided with writing materials and postage in reasonable amounts and to reasonable assistance when desired and necessary in writing, addressing and posting letters and other documents; and
- 3.—The right to receive or refuse visits and telephone calls from an attorney or legal advocate, physician, psychologist, clergy or social worker at any reasonable time, regardless of whether the person initiated or requested the visit or telephone call;.
- (e)—The right to be represented by an attorney or advocate of the ~~person's~~ person's own choice, including for persons receiving services in a residential site, the right to meet in a private area at the residential site with an attorney or advocate;.
- (f)—The right to be protected from commercial exploitation;.
- (g) ~~(g)~~—The right to be visited and visit with others, daily and in private, provided that reasonable restrictions may be placed on the time and place of the visit but only to protect the privacy of other persons or to avoid serious disruptions in the normal functioning of the service. Hours during which visitors may be received shall be sufficiently flexible as to accommodate individual needs and desires of persons and their visitors;.
- (h) ~~(h)~~—The right to a humane psychological and physical environment. Where applicable to the service, persons shall be provided living quarters and accommodations which afford privacy and security in resting, sleeping, dressing, bathing and personal hygiene, reading and writing, and in toileting. 104 CMR 28.03 shall not be interpreted as requiring individual sleeping quarters;.
- (i) ~~(i)~~—The right to file complaints and to have complaints responded to in accordance with  
\_\_\_\_ 104\_ CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities*;
- ~~(i)(j)~~ ~~(j)~~—The right to informed consent. Informed consent means knowing consent, voluntarily given by a person who has the capacity to weigh the risks and benefits of the particular treatment being proposed. If a person does not have the capacity to provide informed consent, authorization for treatment may be obtained from a court of competent jurisdiction or the person's legally authorized representative, with the following exceptions:.
1. ~~1.~~—Extraordinary medical care as it is defined by statute or court decision, including but not limited to, treatment with antipsychotic medication and electroconvulsive treatment (ECT), shall only be provided:
    - a. ~~a.~~—pursuant to a court order; or.
    - b. ~~b.~~—in the case of a minor, upon the consent of a legally authorized representative with authority to authorize such medical care; or.
    - c. ~~c.~~—in the case of a duly activated health care proxy, upon the consent of the health care agent acting within the scope of such proxy;.
- 2.2.—If the person has no legally authorized representative, the Director may consent to routine or preventive medical care, including standard medical examinations, clinical tests, standard immunizations and treatment for minor illnesses and injuries. However, such medical care shall only be authorized upon recommendation of the treating physician that such care is necessary and appropriate, and provided the person agrees to such care, the person is not a minor or under guardianship, and has been

found to lack capacity to make informed decisions about his or her medical care at his or her last service planning review.

3. ~~3.~~—Prior to an adjudication of incapacity, and court approval of a treatment plan, if applicable, a person retains the right to accept or refuse treatment as prescribed.

(k)—The protections afforded to persons in certain residential sites under M.G.L. c. 186, § 17A commonly known as the Community Residence Tenancy Law, ~~M.G.L. c.186 §17A, as applicable.~~

- (2) ~~(2)~~—A notice of the human rights as set forth in 104 CMR 28.03(1)(a) through (k) shall be posted in appropriate and conspicuous places to which persons and family members have access in each service site, and available to any person upon request. The notice shall be written in language that is easy to understand and, to the extent practicable, translated into the requesting person's preferred language.

#### 28.04:— Protection from Mistreatment

- (1) ~~(1)~~—No provider shall mistreat a person or permit the mistreatment of a person by staff subject to its direction. Mistreatment includes any intentional or negligent action or omission which exposes a person to a serious risk of physical or emotional harm. Mistreatment includes but is not limited to:
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Corporal punishment or any unreasonable use or degree of force or threat of force;
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—Infliction of mental or verbal abuse, such as abusive screaming or name calling;
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—Incitement or encouragement of persons or others to mistreat a person;
  - (d) ~~(d)~~—Transfer or the threat of transfer of a person for punitive reasons;
  - (e) ~~(e)~~—The use of restraint as punishment or for the convenience of staff; or
  - (f) ~~(f)~~—Any act in retaliation against a person for reporting any violation of the provisions of the Department regulations or other provisions of law.
- (2) ~~(2)~~—The Director or designee shall report to the Department allegations of mistreatment in accordance with 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities.*
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Provider staff shall cooperate with investigations of incidents or allegations of mistreatment in accordance with 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities.*
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—Provider staff shall comply with all applicable reporting requirements as required by law including reporting allegations of abuse or neglect to the Disabled Persons Protection Commission in compliance with M.G.L. c. 19C, the Executive Office of Elder Affairs in compliance with M.G.L. c. 19A, and the Department of Children and Families in compliance with M.G.L. c. 119.
- (3) ~~(3)~~—The identity of persons making reports under 104 CMR 28.04 shall not be disclosed by the Director or designee or by the Department, except as necessary to investigate the subject matter of the report.

28.05:— Prohibition of Medication Restraint and Mechanical Restraint or Seclusion; Prevention of Physical Restraint; and Requirements for Emergency Physical Restraint When Necessary

- (1) ~~(1)~~—Medication restraint, mechanical restraint or seclusion shall not be used. Physical restraint may only be used if the requirements of 104 CMR 28.05(4) are met.
  
- (2) ~~(2)~~—Physical restraint occurs when a manual method is used to restrain a person by restricting the ~~person's~~person's freedom of movement or normal access to his or her body. Physical restraint does not include ~~taking~~ reasonable steps to prevent a person at imminent risk of entering a dangerous situation from doing so with a limited response to avert injury, such as blocking a blow, breaking up a fight, or preventing a fall, a jump, or a run into traffic.
  
- (3) ~~(3)~~—Prevention of the Use of Physical Restraint. Each provider shall develop and implement a strategic plan to prevent, reduce, and wherever possible eliminate, the use of physical restraint in its service. ~~A~~ provider's~~provider's~~ plan shall include, at a minimum, the following:
  - (a) ~~(a)~~—policies and procedures supporting the prevention, reduction and, wherever possible, elimination of physical restraint;
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—staff training focusing on:
    1. ~~1.~~—crisis prevention and de-escalation; and
    2. ~~2.~~—the safe and appropriate use of physical restraint; in the event of imminent danger;
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—the development of a supportive environment that incorporates the teaching of and use of coping skills and strategies, including sensory integration/modulation approaches to prevent, reduce, and wherever possible eliminate the ~~need for use of~~ physical restraints;
  - (d) ~~(d)~~—the development and use of individual crisis prevention plans for all ~~clients;~~persons;
  - (e) ~~(e)~~—the development and use of debriefing procedures following an episode of restraint to address, at a minimum, what led to the incident, what might have prevented or curtailed the incident, and how to prevent future incidents. Debriefing activities shall at a minimum include:
    1. ~~1.~~—identification of what led to the episode;
    2. ~~2.~~—determination of whether the individual crisis prevention plan was used;
    3. ~~3.~~—assessment of alternative interventions that may have avoided the use of restraint ~~or seclusion~~;
    4. ~~4.~~—determination of whether the person's physical and psychological needs ~~were~~ appropriately addressed and that the person's right to privacy was maintained;
    5. ~~5.~~ Whether~~whether~~ the restraint resulted in any injuries and the results of such injuries;

6. ~~6.~~—consideration of counseling or medical evaluation and treatment for the involved person and/or staff for any emotional or physical trauma that may have resulted from the incident;\_
  7. ~~7.~~—consideration of whether other persons and staff who may have witnessed or otherwise been affected by the incident should be involved in debriefing activities or offered counseling;\_
  8. ~~8.~~—determination of whether the legally authorized representative, if any, family members, or others should be notified of and/or involved in debriefing activities;\_
  9. ~~9.~~—consideration of whether additional supervision or training should be provided to staff involved in the incident;\_
- (f) ~~(f)~~—documentation requirements that will ensure an adequate record of the authorization, the less restrictive means attempted, if any, and the reason for their failure and all debriefing activities. These requirements must, at a minimum, meet the documentation requirements set forth in 104 CMR 28.05(4);\_
- (g) ~~(g)~~—requirement that debriefings documentation be reviewed by appropriate staff for the purpose of identifying and addressing opportunities to prevent, reduce, or eliminate future occurrences of restraint;\_
- (h) ~~(h)~~—appropriate ~~administrative~~ review of the use of physical restraint by ~~the Director or designee; senior administrative and clinical staff;~~
- (i) ~~(i)~~—the process for understanding and addressing any ~~person's~~ person's concern or complaint about the use of physical restraint;\_
- (j) ~~(j)~~—the use of data to monitor and improve quality and prevent ~~and minimize,~~ reduce, and wherever possible eliminate the use of restraint, such as identifying times or shifts with a high incidence of restraint, and to modify the plan as indicated. ~~Plan reviews should occur in the event there are repeated instances of restraint at the program site, but no less frequently than on an annual basis; and;~~
- (k) ~~(k)~~—the identification and utilization of support measures after a restraint, including debriefing activities which may include peer support, advocacy, Human Rights Officer participation and inclusion of family and friends designated by the person; and
- (l) the provider's strategic plan to prevent, reduce, and wherever possible eliminate, the use of physical restraint in its service must be reviewed and updated in the event there are repeated instances of restraint at the site, but no less frequently than on an annual basis.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—Emergency Physical Restraint.
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Physical Emergency physical restraint may be used only under the following conditions:\_
1. ~~1.~~—In the presence of an emergency where there is a substantial, imminent risk of, or the occurrence of, serious self-destructive behavior, or serious physical assault.
  - 1.2. A substantial risk includes only the serious imminent threat of bodily harm where there is the present ability to enact such harm, including instances where property damage may result in bodily harm. \_
  - 2.3.2. —Less restrictive alternatives, including strategies identified in the ~~person's~~ person's crisis prevention plan or treatment plan, if any, have been tried and failed, or a determination has been made that such alternatives would be inappropriate or ineffective under the circumstances; and\_
  - 3.4.3. —Written authorization for the use of physical restraint has been obtained from the Director or an administrator designated to act on his or her behalf. \_



104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

a.— Where neither person is available, physical the nurse manager or other member of the licensed clinical staff who has been authorized by the Director may initiate the emergency restraint may be used prior to obtaining written authorization from the Director in the event a physician is not on site, provided the authorization of the Director or the designee is obtained immediately thereafter, and in no event later than four hours after the initial occurrence.

b.— The authorization shall be dated and recorded in the person's person's record.

~~4. The Director, or designee, may not write an~~ 5. Authorization for “as needed,” or “as required” (~~(“PRN” authorization for physical~~) restraint: may not be ordered in any circumstance.

(b) ~~(b)~~—If emergency physical restraint is used:

1. ~~1.~~—It may only include bodily holding of a person with no more force than necessary to limit an individual's individual's movement;

2. ~~2.~~—It may be used only for the purpose of preventing the continuation or renewal of such emergency condition and only to the minimum extent and duration necessary. No emergency restraint may last longer than 15 minutes and nursing staff must be available to monitor and resolve the crisis.

3. ~~3.~~—It shall be employed to allow the person the greatest possible comfort and to avoid physical injury and mental distress;

4. ~~4.~~—The person being restrained shall be held or placed in a position that allows airway access and does not compromise respiration. ~~—A face-down position shall not be used, unless:~~

a. ~~a.~~—there is a specified patient preference and no psychological or medical contra-indication contraindication to its use; or

b. ~~b.~~—there is an overriding psychological or medical justification for its use, which shall be documented.

5. ~~5.~~—A staff debriefing shall be conducted in accordance with the provider's provider's plan for prevention of the use of emergency physical restraint. The person who was subject to physical restraint shall separately be asked to debrief. These debriefings shall occur as soon as possible after the restraint.

~~6. (e)~~—A youth debriefing shall be conducted in accordance with the provider's strategic plan for the prevention of the use of emergency physical restraint. The youth's legally authorized representative, if any, shall be invited to participate in the debriefing process. Subject to the legally authorized representative's consent, the youth may invite others such as preferred staff or another family member to attend the debriefing and participate in the process. The intent of the debriefing is to learn about the circumstances that contributed to the restraint, heal the breach in the therapeutic alliance, and adjust the treatment plan or crisis prevention plan to prevent recurrence.

(c) The use of physical restraint shall be noted in the person's record. This notation shall include:

1. ~~1.~~—A description of the restraint;

2. ~~2.~~—The reason for the restraint;

3. ~~3.~~—Whether the person's crisis prevention plan was followed;

- ~~3.4.~~ The types of less restrictive alternatives, including sensory interventions, if any, which were ~~utilized and failed; attempted before the use of physical restraint, and if none were attempted, the reason(s) why.~~
- ~~4.5.~~ ~~4.~~—The name of the staff person authorizing the restraint and of all staff involved in the restraint;
- ~~5.—6.~~ The time or times the restraint was used;
7. ~~6.~~—The duration of the restraint; ~~and~~
- ~~8.~~ ~~7.~~—Any subsequent revisions to the person’s treatment plan or crisis prevention plan as a result of the restraint episode;
9. Documentation of communication to inform staff, legally authorized representative, and others involved in the event regarding the episode of restraint, as well as any subsequent changes in the person’s treatment plan or crisis intervention plan as a result of the episode; and
10. A summary of the debriefing activities.
- (d) If emergency physical restraint is used, the Director or designee shall ensure there is a timely review of the person's ~~individualized action~~treatment plan and crisis prevention plan as applicable to evaluate the need for appropriate clinical interventions. ~~If the person requires experiences the prolonged~~ use of physical restraint for a period greater than fifteen minutes or more than one physical restraint within a 24-hour period, the Director or designee shall initiate the review immediately.
- (e) Notifications; Monthly Reports; Human Rights Committee Review.
1. ~~The person’s~~person's legally authorized representative, if any, shall be notified of the physical restraint as soon as possible but no later than the next business day.
  2. ~~The service’s~~service's Human Rights Officer shall be notified of the physical restraint as soon as possible, but no later than the next business day.
  3. ~~At the end of any month in which physical restraint was utilized in a service, the Director shall submit a report to the Human Rights Committee on the nature and frequency of physical restraint in the program~~service during that month.
    - a. ~~A copy of this report shall be kept on file at the applicable service site or at the provider’s~~provider's administrative office;
    - b. ~~The Human Rights Committee shall review the report to determine if there has been an inappropriate reliance on the use of restraint, either as to the service as a whole or as to any individual person(s) at a service site;~~
    - c. ~~The Human Rights Committee may make recommendations concerning necessary technical assistance or modification of the service to the Director and the appropriate Area Director.~~
- (5) ~~The Human Rights Committee shall review all complaints concerning the threat or use of restraint and, where appropriate, refer complaints for investigation in accordance with the requirements of 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities.*~~

## 28.06:— Medication

- (1) The following terms as used in 104 CMR 28.06 shall be ~~interpreted~~defined as follows:

104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

Certified Staff. Unlicensed staff members who are certified to administer medications pursuant to the Medication Administration Program. Certified ~~staffs~~Staff are authorized to administer medications at MAP registered service sites. These individuals have successfully completed the training and examination requirements established in 105 CMR 700.003(F) and 104-CMR 28.06(13) to be certified.

~~Non-self Administering. Personally taking, consuming or applying medication in the manner directed by the Prescribing Practitioner with more than minimal assistance or direction by provider staff in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.~~

~~Self-administering or Self-administration of Medication. Personally taking, consuming or applying medication in the manner directed by the Prescribing Practitioner, with no more than minimal assistance or direction by provider staff in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.~~

MAP Registered Service Site. The service site has been issued a MAP Massachusetts Controlled Substance Registration by the Department of Public Health to administer medications pursuant 105 CMR 700.003: *Registration of Persons for a Specific Activity or Activities in Accordance with M.G.L. c. 94C, § 7(g)* at the site.

Medication Administration Program (MAP). A program administered by the Department of Public Health (DPH) in conjunction with the Department, the Department of Developmental Disabilities and the Department of Children and Families pursuant to 105 CMR 700.003(F).

~~Non-self-administering. Personally taking, consuming or applying medication in the manner directed by the Prescribing Practitioner with more than minimal assistance or direction by provider staff in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.~~

Prescribing Practitioner. A licensed physician, or a Qualified APRN, a licensed ~~psychiatric nurse clinical specialist, licensed nurse practitioner, licensed~~ dentist, or licensed physician assistant, acting within the scope of applicable practice.

~~(2) Self-administering or Self-administration of Medication. Personally taking, consuming or applying medication in the manner directed by the Prescribing Practitioner, with no more than minimal assistance, or direction by provider staff in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.~~

(2) For prescription medication to be administered by a provider, the medication shall be prescribed by the Prescribing Practitioner.

- (3) ~~(3)~~—Each person receiving medication shall be encouraged to see his or her Prescribing Practitioner at clinically appropriate intervals, as determined by the Prescribing Practitioner. The prescription shall be documented in the ~~person's~~person's record together with the following information, if provided by the Prescribing Practitioner:
- (a) ~~(a)~~—The current dosage;
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—a reconciliation of all medications being taken by the person;
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—Any signs or complaints of neurologic side effects including tardive dyskinesia, metabolic syndrome, or other side effects; \_\_\_\_\_
  - ~~(d)~~ The reason for the use of the medication; \_\_\_\_\_
  - ~~(e)~~ The effectiveness of the medication. \_\_\_\_\_
- ~~(d)~~ The reason for the use of the medication;
- ~~(e)~~ The effectiveness of the medication.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—Each person administered medication by a provider shall be encouraged and offered assistance, if needed, to receive a yearly physical examination and to authorize the sharing of the results with the practitioner prescribing psychotropic medication.
- (5) ~~(5)~~—A provider administering medication must have information relating to common risks and side effects of the medications used by the persons it served, the procedures to be taken to minimize such risks, and a description of any clinical indications that might require suspension or termination of a medication shall be available to persons and staff at every service site. Such information shall also be available to a ~~persons'~~persons' legally authorized representative, if applicable.
- (6) ~~(6)~~—Medication shall not be arbitrarily withheld, or used as punishment, or administered in quantities that are excessive in relation to the amount necessary to attain the person's best possible functioning.
- (7) ~~(7)~~—Medication shall not be used for the convenience of staff or as a substitute for programming.
- (8) ~~(8)~~—Administration.— Prescription medication shall be administered in accordance with the written prescription of a Prescribing Practitioner and the provisions of M.G.L. c. 94C: *The Controlled Substances Act*, 105 CMR 700.003: *Registration of Persons for a Specific Activity or Activities in Accordance with M.G.L. c. 94C*, § 7(g) and 104 CMR 28.06. -
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Medications administered to an individual who is non-self-administering must be done by a practitioner, including a registered nurse or a practical nurse, currently licensed in ~~the state of~~ Massachusetts and who is legally authorized to administer a controlled substance in accordance applicable licensing requirement, or if the individual is at a MAP registered site, by Certified Staff in accordance with applicable procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.

104 CMR: DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

- (b) ~~(b)~~—Prescribed medications shall only be administered to or taken by the individual for whom the prescription has been written.
- (c) ~~(c)~~—The provider shall have a policy which specifies the administrative procedures to be followed in the event of a medical emergency. This shall include: the staff persons to be notified, the person(s) responsible for decision-making and the physician, clinic, emergency room or comparable medical back-up to be contacted. Such policy shall include provisions for ensuring the list of names and telephone numbers of staff persons and medical personnel to be contacted in an emergency is current. This information must be readily available to staff, and must clearly indicate who is to be contacted on a 24-hour-a-per day, seven-days-a-week basis. The medical personnel to be contacted shall include the Prescribing Practitioner or, if unavailable, another licensed practitioner or appropriate emergency room personnel.
- (d) ~~(d)~~—Certified staff may only administer prescription medications which are oral, topical, ophthalmic, optic, intranasal, or products which are administered by inhalation.
- (e) ~~(e)~~—Parenteral drugs generally intended for self-administration or drugs administered by gastrostomy and jejunostomy tube may be administered by Certified Staff who have successfully completed a specialized training program in such technique taught by a physician, physician assistant, pharmacist, registered nurse, or nurse practitioner and approved by the Department and the Department of Public Health. Such technique shall be used only with the written authorization, and in accordance with the written instructions, of the Prescribing Practitioner.
- (f) ~~(f)~~—Whenever possible, a prescription for medication shall be limited to a 37-day supply and one refill.
- (g) ~~(g)~~—Administration of an over-the-counter drug by Certified Staff to a non-self-administering person requires the prior approval of a Prescribing Clinician and must be done in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.
- (h) ~~(h)~~—Providers shall permit and encourage self-administration of medication by individuals capable of self-administering, provided that:
- ~~1.~~ the risks of misuse or abuse to the individual and other persons within the service site are minimal; ~~and~~
  - ~~2.~~ the provider provides the individual with adequate training assistance and supervision; and
  - ~~3.~~ the Prescribing Practitioner's directions are consistent with self-administration for the individual.
- (i) ~~(i)~~—All persons who are non-self-administering shall be offered training to obtain or enhance self-administration consistent with the ~~individual's~~ individual's preferences, capacity, and assessed goals.
- 
- (j) ~~(j)~~—Medication may not be administered PRN for restraint purposes; but may be administered PRN for treatment purposes. For individuals who are prescribed medication PRN for treatment, the provider shall obtain from the Prescribing Practitioner a statement of specific target signs, symptoms and instructions for determining when administration of PRN medication is needed-indicated.

- (9) ~~(9)~~ Storage. In accordance with 105 CMR 700.005: *Security Requirements*, drug security and storage requirements of federal and state laws shall be enforced at all storage sites where medications are stored. The following requirements shall also be followed:
- (a) ~~(a)~~ Medications shall be stored under proper conditions of sanitation, temperature, light, moisture, ventilation, segregation and security.
  - (b) ~~(b)~~ Medications for all persons who are not self-administering shall be labeled and stored in a locked container or area, in which nothing except such medications are stored. Medications required to be refrigerated must be stored in a locked container within the refrigerator. The provider shall have a written policy describing the persons and the conditions under which persons may have access to such container or area and restrictions for access to the locked container.
  - (c) ~~(c)~~ Prescription Medications for persons who are self-administering shall be stored in such a way as to make them inaccessible to all other persons. Such medications shall be stored in a locked container or area in which nothing except such medications are stored, unless the Director makes a determination that unlocked storage of the medication poses no threat to the health or safety of the person taking the medication or other persons; provided, however, that all controlled substances set forth in the Department of Public Health's Controlled Substances Schedules II-V shall be secured in a locked container or area.

28.06: ~~continued~~

(d) ~~Outdated medications, medications which have not been administered due to a change in the prescription or a stop order, and medications with worn, illegible or missing labels shall be disposed of and the disposal shall be documented in accordance with policies established by the provider, provided, that prescription medications are disposed of in accordance with the procedures and criteria approved by the Department of Public Health.~~

~~(e)~~ \_\_\_\_\_ ~~(e)~~  
 Medications or ointments used externally shall be stored separately from medications taken internally.

(10) ~~(10)~~ Packaging and Labeling.- All medications shall be properly packaged and labeled in accordance with M.G.L. c. 94C, § 21 and the following requirements:

(a) ~~(a)~~ Provider staff shall not repack or relabel prescription medications which are taken or applied at any service site regularly or frequently attended by the person. All such medications shall be packed and labeled by a pharmacist or, in the case of medication dispensed for immediate treatment, by the dispensing practitioner.

(b) ~~(b)~~ Where medication is taken or applied by a person at two or more locations on a regular or frequent basis, the medication shall be stored in a separate, properly labeled and appropriately secured medication container at each location. In circumstances where this is not practical or feasible, the Department shall establish an alternative procedure approved by the Department of Public Health.

(c) ~~(c)~~ The provider shall have policies for obtaining a properly labeled container where there is a change in prescription or where the person frequently or regularly receives medication at two or more locations.

(11) ~~(11)~~ Documentation and Communication.- All prescriptions for, and administration of, medication shall be documented in accordance with 105 CMR 700.003: *Registration of Persons for a Specific Activity or Activities in Accordance with M.G.L. c. 94C, § 7(g)* and the following requirements:

(a) ~~(a)~~ All prescriptions for medication shall be documented in the person's record. The documentation shall specify for each person the name and dosage of medication, the condition for which the medication is prescribed, when and how the medication is to be administered, instructions for self-administration, if applicable, any contraindications or possible allergic reactions, common risks and side effects and appropriate staff responses and special instructions, including steps to be taken if a dose is missed.

(b) ~~(b)~~ The provider shall establish appropriate policies and procedures to address how provider staff may obtain relevant prescription information as set forth in 104 CMR 28.06 (3) and (5). ~~In addition,~~ such policies and procedures shall ensure that telephone medication orders and/or medication changes are received from licensed practitioners and properly documented in the person's record.

(c) ~~(c)~~ The provider shall ensure that staff have ready access to the information specified in 104 ~~CMR~~ 28.06(5) by maintaining at each site where medications are administered a copy of a medication-specific drug information sheet which states in plain language generally why the drug is used, when it is to be administered, how it should be administered, any special instructions or precautions, proper storage conditions, possible side effects and what is to be done if a dose is missed.

(d) ~~(d)~~ To ensure proper communication among all providers serving the same person, a provider that is responsible for a non-self-administering person's medication shall, with necessary authorization, ensure that the other providers are appropriately informed of any prescription or non-prescription medications which the person is taking on a regular basis, and the information set forth in 104 ~~CMR~~ 28.06(11)(a) for each prescription medication which the person receives.

(e) ~~(e)~~ The provider shall ensure that the appropriate consent or court order for medication is obtained in accordance with 104 CMR 28.03(1)(j) and is documented in the person's record. ~~(f) The administration of medication for non self administering~~

~~persons, including Prescribing Practitioner ordered over the counter drugs, shall be documented in the person's record as follows:~~

~~(f) 1.—The administration of medication for non-self-administering persons, including Prescribing Practitioner ordered over the counter drugs, shall be documented in the person's record as follows:~~

1. ~~The time that the medication is administered to the person;~~
2. ~~2.—Any off-site administration of medication which would normally be administered at the service site;~~
3. ~~3.—Any inconsistencies from the Prescribing Practitioner's Practitioner's prescription regardless of whether such inconsistencies resulted in harm or a risk of harm.~~

Persons who are self-administering shall not be required to document their own self-administration of medication.

(g) ~~(g)~~—Any change in medications or dosage levels of a medication shall be treated as a new medication order for the purposes of documentation.

(h) ~~(h)~~—The provider shall establish procedures to document the date that a person's prescription is filled and the quantity of medication dispensed by the pharmacy.

(i) ~~(i)~~—Except for persons who are self-administering, the provider shall maintain a documented accounting of the quantities of controlled substances set forth in the Department of Public Health's Controlled Substances Schedules II-V stored at each service site, which shall be reconciled at the end of each shift, or as otherwise approved by the Department of Public Health.

(j) ~~(j)~~—Whenever a non-self-administering person is taking an over-the-counter medication administered by a Certified Staff, the approval of the appropriate Prescribing Practitioner, as required under 104 CMR 28.06(8)(g), shall be documented in the ~~person's~~ person's record.

(12) Compliance. -A provider shall:

(a) ~~(a)~~—ensure that each service it provides establishes, maintains, and operates pursuant to, policies that ensure that prescription medication is administered only by a Massachusetts licensed nurse or properly trained and Certified Staff and is in compliance with the requirements of 104 CMR 28.06;

(b) ~~(b)~~—maintain a current listing of all licensed nurses and Certified Staff and who are authorized by the service to administer prescription medications;

(c) ~~(c)~~—permit the Department, and where applicable the Department of Public Health, to inspect provider and persons' records pertaining to the use and administration of medication and to make announced or unannounced on-site visits or inspections of common areas and such other inspections as deemed necessary by the Department to monitor the provider's compliance with 104 CMR 28.06;

(d) promptly notify the Department and, where applicable, the Department of Public Health, of any suspected shortages or diversion of prescription medications;

(e) promptly report to the Department and, where applicable, the Department of Public Health, any suspected misuse of prescription medication arising from the administration of medication in a manner inconsistent with the practitioner's prescription or in violation of 104 CMR 28.00 which the provider has reason to believe created a risk of harm to the person;

(f) for registered sites, provide or arrange for technical assistance and advice to be provided as needed by a registered nurse, registered pharmacist or other licensed practitioner when questions arise regarding appropriate medication administration practices or the effects of medications. The provider shall establish policies and procedures which ensure reasonable access to such assistance and advice.

(13) Requirements Applicable to MAP Certification; Training, Duration, Suspension, Revocation and Denial.

(a) MAP Certification.— Certification will be awarded to individuals who complete the training program and pass the examination requirements as established by the Department



of Public Health in concert with the Department, the Department of Developmental Services, and the Department of Children and Families (collectively, "the Departments").

1. ~~The~~ training program for certification shall be taught by a registered nurse, nurse practitioner, physician assistant, pharmacist, or physician who meets applicable requirements for a trainer jointly approved by the Department of Public Health, and the Departments. ~~The~~ Department of Public Health and, as appropriate, the Departments shall have the authority to monitor the training program for compliance with established standards.
2. ~~Certification~~ will be valid for two years and may be renewed upon the person meeting the standards for retraining and/or retesting approved established by the Department of Public Health and the Departments.

(b) Suspension, Revocation and Denial of MAP Certification. Certification may be suspended, revoked or denied if the Department finds that there is reasonable cause to believe the holder of, or the applicant for, the certification:

1. has been charged with or convicted of a crime involving controlled substances;~~or~~
2. has furnished or made any misleading or false statement in the application for, or renewal of, certification;~~or~~
3. poses a risk to the health, safety, and welfare of persons; or
4. is unfit to perform the duties for which the certification was granted.

No suspension, revocation or denial of certification will be made by the Department until it has given the holder or applicant notice of its intent to suspend, revoke or deny certification and the opportunity for an informal hearing before the Department to consider whether reasonable cause exists, and a hearing has been held, if timely requested. ~~The~~ hearing shall not be an adjudicatory proceeding within the meaning of M.G.L. c. 30A. The decision of ~~the~~ Department to suspend, revoke or deny a certification shall be final. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department may in its sole discretion immediately suspend an ~~individual's~~ certification pending delivery of notice and results of the hearing, if one has been requested.

(c) Notification. The Department shall notify the training program registry and all other Departments of any suspensions, revocations or denials of certification.

(d) Reinstatement. An individual whose certification has been suspended, revoked or denied may apply for recertification upon a showing that the conditions that led to such suspension, revocation or denial have been remediated. If the Department determines that such conditions have been remediated, the Department may approve such ~~individual's~~ application under terms of retraining and supervision as the Department may impose.

#### 28.07:— Labor

(1) ~~No~~ person, other than an employee or contractor of the service, shall be required to perform labor which involves the essential operation and maintenance of a service site or the regular care, treatment or supervision of other persons; provided, however, that:

- (a) ~~(a)~~ Persons who reside at a residential site may be required to perform labor involving normal housekeeping and home maintenance functions;
- (b) ~~(b)~~ Persons may perform labor in accordance with a planned and supervised program of vocational and rehabilitation training as set forth in the person's individual service plans or individualized ~~action~~ treatment plans.

(2) ~~The~~ requirements of federal and state laws relating to wages, hours of work, worker's compensation and other labor standards shall be met to the extent that such laws apply to such required and voluntary labor.

28.08:— Possessions

(1)— No provider shall interfere with the right of a person to acquire, retain and dispose of personally-owned property unless:

- (a) ~~(a)~~—the person is a minor, under guardianship or conservatorship, or has had a representative payee appointed; ~~or~~
- (b) ~~(b)~~—in accordance with the provisions of 104 CMR 30.02: Client Funds in Community Programs or 30.07: *Disposition of Personal Property Abandoned at Facilities or Programs*; ~~or~~
- (c) ~~(c)~~—the person possesses contraband or any item prohibited by law; ~~or~~
- (d) ~~(d)~~—ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (e) ~~(e)~~—possession of such property poses an imminent threat of serious physical harm to the person or others.

If the provider takes possession of a ~~person's~~ person's personally-owned property for the purposes of storage, the provider shall issue a receipt to the person and place the property in safekeeping.

(2) ~~(2)~~—Any restriction on the possession of personally-owned property shall be documented in the person's record, and reviewed and monitored by the Human Rights Officer and Human Rights Committee.

~~(3)~~—

- (3) Persons have the right to be free from unreasonable searches of their person or property.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—A provider shall ensure that its service establishes, maintains and operates pursuant to written policy, consistent with applicable law and the requirements of 104 CMR 28.08, regarding personal possessions and the implementation of searches and seizures at service sites. Persons shall be informed of the policy prior to their enrollment into the service. The policy shall require, at a minimum, except emergency circumstances, that persons and their legally authorized representative, if applicable:
- (a) ~~(a)~~—be informed of a search prior to the search;
  - (b) —be provided an opportunity to consent to the search; and
  - (c) —be present during the search of their property.

(5) All searches, including the reasons for the search, must be documented. If a search of a person’s room or property needs to be performed in an emergency to avoid imminent risk of harm, and the person is not present during the search, the nature of the emergency and the reason the person is not present should be documented in the record. The person, the person’s legally authorized representative, if applicable, and the program’s ~~Human Rights Officer~~ human rights officer shall be notified of the emergency and search as soon afterwards as practicable and the notification must be documented.

28.09:— Records and Record Privacy

- (1) —A provider shall ensure that each of its services maintains an individual record of services provided to each person served. Such record shall contain accurate, complete, timely, and relevant information, and shall be sufficiently detailed to enable a person to identify the types of services the person receives.
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Records shall be maintained in a consistent format that facilitates information retrieval. Records may be handwritten, printed, typed or in electronic digital format, or any combination thereof.
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—A provider shall employ reasonable physical, technical and administrative safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity and availability of records, and shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations.
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—A person who is the subject of a record, or the ~~person’s~~ person’s legally authorized representative, who believes that the record contains inaccurate or misleading information, may request that it be amended. A provider shall respond to such request in accordance with applicable state and federal requirements.

(2) ~~(2)~~—Records of a person who is currently receiving or has received services from a provider shall be confidential and not open to inspection except as provided in 104 CMR 28.09.

(3) ~~(3)~~—Inspection by Person, Legally Authorized Representative or Person’s Attorney.

- (a) —A person and the ~~person’s~~ person’s legally authorized representative shall be permitted to inspect the ~~person’s~~ person’s records unless a licensed health care professional of the provider, determines that:
  - 1. ~~1.~~—inspection by the person is reasonably likely to endanger the life or physical safety of the person or another individual;
  - 2. —the record makes reference to another person (other than a health care provider) and its inspection is reasonably likely to cause substantial harm to such other person; or
  - 3. —inspection by the legally authorized representative is reasonably likely to cause substantial harm to the person or another person.
- (b) ~~(b)~~—If access to a record is denied based on the criteria in 104 CMR 28.09(3)(a), the person or the person’s legally authorized representative shall be informed of, and have, the

right to appeal such denial. The determination on appeal must be made by a licensed health care professional, other than the person who made the initial decision to deny access, and such determination shall be final.

(c) ~~(e)~~—The ~~person's~~ person's attorney shall be permitted to inspect the person's record upon request. The Commissioner or designee may require that the request be in writing and may further require appropriate verification of the attorney-client relationship.

(d) ~~(d)~~—Clinical staff may offer to read or interpret the record when necessary for the understanding of the person or his or her legally authorized representative. However, in no circumstance may an individual be denied access to a record solely because he or she declines the offer of staff to read or interpret the record.

(e) ~~(e)~~—The program director may require the legally authorized ~~representative's~~ representative's consent before permitting a patient ~~under the age of younger than~~ 18 years old to inspect his or her own records; provided that the records of medical or dental treatment of a patient ~~under younger than~~ 18 years of age old, who has been determined to be an emancipated or mature minor as provided in 104 CMR 25.03: *Emancipated and Mature Minors*, shall be confidential between the minor and physician or dentist and shall not be released, except in accordance with M.G.L. c. 112, § 12F.

(4) Inspection by or Disclosure to Other Persons.

(a) Records of a person shall be open to inspection or disclosure upon proper judicial order, whether or not such order is made in connection with pending judicial proceedings.

1. ~~1.~~—For the purpose of 104 CMR 28.09(4), ~~"proper judicial order"~~ shall mean an order signed by a justice or special justice of a court of competent jurisdiction, or a clerk or assistant clerk of such court acting upon instruction of such a justice. A subpoena shall not be deemed a ~~"proper judicial order."~~

2. ~~2.~~—Whenever practicable, a person and the ~~person's~~ person's legally authorized representative, if any, shall be informed of a court order for the production of the ~~person's~~ person's record.

(b) ~~(b)~~—The records of a person, or parts thereof, shall be open to inspection by or disclosure to other third parties, upon receipt of written authorization from the person or the ~~person's~~ person's legally authorized representative, provided that such written authorization shall meet the requirements set forth in 45 CFR 164.508.

(c) ~~(e)~~—The Commissioner or designee may permit inspection or disclosure of the records of a person where he or she has made a determination that such inspection or disclosure:

1. ~~1.~~—would be in the best interest of the person; and

2. ~~2.~~—is permitted by the privacy regulations promulgated under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164;

~~(d)~~—Without limiting the discretionary authority of the Commissioner or designee to identify other situations where inspection or disclosure is in the ~~person's~~ person's best interest, the following inspections or disclosures are deemed to be in the person's best interest:

1. ~~1.~~—for purposes of treatment, payment, and health care operations as permitted by the privacy regulations promulgated under HIPAA at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164;

2. ~~2.~~—to obtain authority for a legally authorized representative to act on the person's behalf, or to obtain a judicial determination of substituted judgment, when a clinical determination has been made that the person lacks capacity to render informed consent to treatment;

3. ~~3.~~—to persons conducting an investigation involving the person pursuant to 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Process*;

4. ~~4.~~—to persons engaged in research if such access is approved by the Department pursuant to 104 CMR 31.00: *Human Subject Research Authorization and Monitoring*;

5. ~~5.~~—to make reports of communicable and other infectious disease to the Department of Public Health and/or local board of health consistent with 105 CMR 300.000: *Reportable Diseases, Surveillance, and Isolation and Quarantine Requirements*;

~~and 6. in the case of death, to coroners, medical examiners, or funeral directors.~~

Requirements; and

6. in the case of death, to coroners, medical examiners, or funeral directors.

(e) Records may be disclosed as required by law. In addition to the laws and regulations of the Department, such laws include, but are not limited to:

1. 1.—M.G.L. c. 6, §§ 178C through 178Q (the Sex Offender Registry Law);
2. 2.—M.G.L. c. 19A, § 23 (Executive Office of Elder Affairs — abuse of elderly persons, 60 years of age or older);
3. 3.—M.G.L. c. 19C, § 10 (Disabled Persons Protection Commission — abuse of disabled persons 18 years of age through 59 years of age);
4. 4.—M.G.L. c. 119, § 51A and 51B (Department of Children and Families — abuse or neglect of children younger than 18 years of age);
5. 5.—42 U.S.C. 10806 (Protection and Advocacy for Mentally Ill Individuals);
6. 6.—M.G.L. c. 221, § 34E (Mental Health Legal Advisors Committee).

(f) Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 6A, § 16, the Department must offset the costs of the services which it provides directly or through contract by maximizing all Title XIX and other federal, state, and private health insurance reimbursement which might be available for such services. Accordingly, without limiting 104 CMR 28.09(4)(d)1, records may be disclosed by the Department and/or its agents for the purpose of:

1. 1.—benefits/insurance coverage/availability inquiries;
2. 2.—obtaining third-party reimbursement;
3. 3.—appeals of reimbursement denials; and
4. 4.— charging fee payers as set forth in 104 CMR 30.04: Charges for Services and 30.06: Charges for Room and Board in the Community.

(g) Any inspection or disclosure under the exceptions enumerated in 104 CMR 28.09(4)(c) through (f) shall be limited to the minimum information necessary to achieve the permitted inspection or disclosure.

(5) Notwithstanding the provisions of 104 CMR 28.09(3) and (4), inspection or disclosure of records or information shall not be permitted in the following circumstances:

- (a) if the record or information was obtained from someone other than a health care provider under a promise of confidentiality, and the requested disclosure would likely reveal the source;
- (b) on a temporary basis only, by or to the person, during the course of research involving treatment, where the person agreed to such temporary suspension of access when consenting to participation in the research study;
- (c) if the subject of the record is in the custody of a correctional institution and the correctional institution has requested that access not be provided for health and safety reasons; or
- (d) if the records are created in anticipation of litigation.

28.10:— Legal Capacity, Guardianship and Conservatorship

(1) No person shall be deemed to be incapacitated to manage his or her affairs, to contract, to hold a professional, occupational or vehicle operator's license, to make a will, to vote or to exercise any other civil or legal right solely by reason of enrollment in a service.

(2) All persons who are 18 years of age or older shall be presumed to be have the legal capacity to conduct their personal and financial affairs, unless otherwise determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(3) In any assessment of capacity, an individual's need for a guardian, conservator, or for other fiduciary, shall be based on the following considerations:

- (a) ~~(a)~~—Generally, an individual shall be determined to be in need of guardianship, conservatorship, or other fiduciary services only if the ~~individual's~~individual's capacity to make informed decisions concerning his or her life, property, or both is so limited that the individual lacks the ability to meet essential requirements for physical health, safety or self-care. That an individual may even routinely make what others consider to be poor decisions is not a proper basis for recommending guardianship, conservatorship or other fiduciary.
- (b) ~~(b)~~—Although the capacity of the individual to make important decisions is the central benchmark for determining the ~~individual's~~individual's need for guardianship, conservatorship or other fiduciary, the capabilities of the ~~individual's~~individual's family and other persons with whom the individual is associated, particular strengths and weaknesses in the ~~individual's~~individual's living circumstances, and the availability and utility of non-judicial alternatives to guardianships such as trusts, representative payees, citizen advocacy programs, or community support services should also be considered and may increase or lessen the degree of the ~~individual's~~individual's need;

~~(c)~~—



- (c) The assessment should identify the specific areas of the individual's functioning which are the basis of the recommendation relative to the need for a guardian, conservator or other fiduciary, such as inability to respond appropriately to health problems or consent to medical care, or inability to manage savings or routine expenses.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—If at any time a person is determined to lack capacity to make informed decisions with regard to his or her health, welfare, or property and if non-judicial less restrictive alternatives such as trusts, representative payees, co-signatory bank accounts and citizen advocates are inadequate, the person's nearest living relatives shall be notified, if appropriate, and the provider shall assist in the appointment of a conservator or guardian or other fiduciary, as appropriate.
- (5) ~~(5)~~—If at any time a person is determined to have regained the capacity to make informed decisions with regard to his or her health, welfare, or property, the provider shall assist in the removal of the person's guardian, conservator or other fiduciary, as applicable.
- (6) ~~(6)~~—The provider shall implement procedures to ensure that suspected improprieties of a guardian, conservator, trustee, representative payee or other fiduciary are reported to the Department and other appropriate authorities.

28.11:— Human Rights Committee; Human Rights Officer-

- (1) ~~(1)~~—The provider of a service shall establish, appoint and empower at least one Human Rights Committee in accordance with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.11. A provider shall establish more than one Human Rights Committee if the total number of persons served, or the number, geographical separateness, or programmatic diversity of the service is so great as to limit the effectiveness of a single Committee in meeting the requirements of 104 CMR 28.11 as determined by the Department.
- (2) ~~(2)~~—Subject to the approval of the Department, a single Human Rights Committee may be established to cover more than one service; provided that the total number of persons served, or the number, geographical separateness, or programmatic diversity of the services is not so great as to limit the effectiveness of the Committee in meeting the requirements of 104 CMR 28.11, as approved by the Department.
- (3) ~~(3)~~—The general responsibility of the Committee shall be to monitor the activities of the service with regard to the human rights of persons served by the provider. The specific duties of the Committee shall include:
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Reviewing and making inquiry into complaints and allegations of mistreatment, harm or violation of a person's rights and referral of such complaints for investigation in accordance with the requirements of 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities*.
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—Reviewing and monitoring the use of physical restraint and other limitations on movement in accordance with 104 CMR 28.05.
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—Reviewing and monitoring the methods utilized by the provider to inform persons and staff of persons' rights, to train persons served by the provider in the exercise of their rights, and to provide persons with opportunities to exercise their rights to the fullest extent of their capabilities and interests.



(d) ~~—~~ Making recommendations to the provider and to the Department to improve the degree to which the human rights of persons served by the provider are understood and enforced.

(e) ~~—~~ Visiting the service sites of the applicable service, including all staffed residential sites as defined in 104 CMR 28.13, at least once per year, with prior notice, or without notice, provided good cause exists.

~~(4) —~~

(4) The Human Rights Committee shall be composed of a minimum of five members, a majority of whom shall be current or former consumers of mental health services, family members of current and former consumers, or advocates; provided, however, that any member who has any direct or indirect financial or administrative interest in the provider or in the Department must comply with any applicable disclosure or other requirements under M.G.L. c. 286A ~~and related regulations.~~

(5) ~~(5) —~~ The Human Rights Committee shall meet as often as necessary upon call of the Chairperson, or upon request of any two members, but no less often than quarterly. Minutes of all Committee meetings shall be maintained and provided to the Department upon request. The Committee shall develop, review and update as necessary operating rules and procedures, which include specific reference to: quorum requirements, respecting ~~persons'~~ persons' confidentiality, and removal of members.

~~(6) —~~

(6) The Human Rights Committee may delegate its duties to one or more subcommittee(s) comprised of members of the Committee; provided, however, that any recommendation for action by such subcommittee(s) must be ratified by the Human Right Committee.

(7) ~~(7) —~~ The service shall have a ~~designated~~ designated Human Rights Officer.

(a) ~~(a) —~~ The Director shall designate and empower a person or persons employed by or affiliated with the ~~program~~ service to serve as a Human Rights Officer, taking into consideration the number of persons served and, the number, geographical separateness and diversity of the service sites. ~~The number of Human Rights Officers so designated shall be sufficient to ensure that persons have timely access to a Human Rights Officer.~~

(b) ~~(b) —~~ If more than one Human Rights Officer is designated, then the Director shall also designate and empower a person or persons employed by the provider to serve as Human Rights Coordinator. The Human Rights Coordinator, who may also be a Human Rights Officer, is responsible to provide or arrange regular training, support, and coordinate the work of the ~~Provider's~~ Provider's various Human Rights Officers. This individual shall ensure the availability of Human Rights Officer assistance to persons. ~~Each Human Rights Coordinator must participate in training programs for Human Rights Officers, including training provided by the Department.~~

(c) ~~(c) —~~ Each Human Rights Officer must, as a formal component of his or her job description:

1. ~~—~~ Participate in training programs for Human Rights Officers, including training provided by the Department;

2. ~~2. —~~ Serve as staff to the provider's Human Rights Committee;

3. ~~3. —~~ Under the general direction of the Human Rights Committee and with the technical assistance of the Department, inform, train and assist persons served in the exercise of their rights in accordance with 104 CMR 28.00 and providing information about the availability of legal advocacy assistance;

4. ~~4. —~~ Assist persons in obtaining legal information, advice and representation through appropriate means, including referral to independent attorneys or legal advocates;

5. ~~5. —~~ Provide information to provider staff regarding persons' rights.

28.12:— Standards Applicable to ~~A~~ Hall Services

(1) Written Policies and Procedures.— Each provider shall ensure that each service it provides has and implements written policies and procedures which are consistent with the requirements of 104 CMR 28.00 and which address:

- (a) ~~(a)~~—Provider philosophy and objectives;
- (b) ~~(b)~~—Enrollment, intake and discharge, including criteria for enrollment into and discharge from the service;
- (c) ~~(c)~~—Maintenance of person records, consistent with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.09 and all other applicable state and federal laws and regulatory requirements;
- (d) ~~(d)~~—Development, implementation and review of individualized ~~action~~treatment plans consistent with 104 CMR 29.00: *Application for DMH Services, Referral, Service Planning and Appeals*, as appropriate;
- (e) ~~(e)~~—Quality and utilization management;
- (f) ~~(f)~~—Medication, for those services prescribing or administering medications, consistent with 104 CMR 28.06;
- (g) ~~(g)~~—Protection of human rights consistent with 104 CMR 28.03;
- (h) ~~(h)~~—Searches of -property consistent with 104 CMR 28.08;
- (i) ~~(i)~~—Use of physical restraints consistent with 104 CMR 28.05;
- (j) ~~(j)~~—Billing third party payers and persons for residential services and supports and Department charges, when applicable, cancellation procedures, fee reductions, and abandoned of property consistent with 104 CMR 30.00: *Fiscal Administration* and any agreements with the Department;
- (k) ~~(k)~~—Personnel, including job descriptions and minimal staff qualifications, staff supervision, and training;
- (l) ~~(l)~~—Fire safety and other emergencies and disasters, including at least:
  1. ~~1.~~—Procedures for evacuating persons and staff;
  2. ~~2.~~—Provision for first aid, through the availability of first-aid supplies, and appropriate staff training;
  3. ~~3.~~—Provision for notification of fire, police, and hospital facilities for assistance;
  4. ~~4.~~—Training for persons and staff in emergency procedures and regular fire drill procedures;
  5. ~~5.~~—Ensuring the provision of transportation, when necessary;
  6. ~~6.~~—The identification of an alternate site for relocation, when necessary; and
  7. ~~7.~~—Notification and coordination with the Department and other state or federal agencies as applicable;
- (m) ~~(m)~~—Implementation of appropriate protocols for when a person is missing;
- (n) ~~(n)~~—Risk management and mitigation;
- (o) Procedures for compliance with the Community Residence Tenancy Law, M.G.L. c. 186-~~§, §~~ 17A, as applicable.

~~(2)–(p)~~ Provision for training and adhering to practices relating to infection control.

~~(q)~~ Safety monitoring around swimming areas, if applicable.

~~(r)~~ Procedures to ensure that each resident receives appropriate grooming and hygiene articles, including hair products that reflect the diversity of persons served.

~~(s)~~ Procedures regarding missing persons or runaway youth, including requirements for implementing searches and appropriate notifications.

~~(t)~~ A policy and procedure for nutritional services, where applicable, including the purchase, storage, preparation and serving food in a manner appropriate to the age and individuals served, including special dietary needs.

(2) Staffing, Supervision and Consultation.

- (a) ~~(a)~~—Director.—The Director shall be responsible for the direction and control of all staff and operation of the service. The Director shall possess sufficient training, education, and professional experience.

- (b) ~~(b)~~—The service shall have adequate staffing and staff shall have relevant work, personal and educational qualifications to enable the service to satisfy the requirements of 104 CMR 28.00.
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—Staff shall receive an orientation to all relevant provider policies and procedures; including, but not limited to, those required by 104 CMR 28.12(1).
  - (d) ~~(d)~~—All staff and volunteers shall receive on-going training as appropriate to their responsibilities, including training on human rights.
  - (e) ~~(e)~~—Staffing patterns must be appropriate to meet the linguistic and cultural needs of persons within the service. — The provider shall ensure there is sufficient staff fluent in the preferred language of the persons served or professional interpreters must be available.
  - (f) ~~(f)~~—Staff positions and qualifications shall be documented in writing through:
    - 1. ~~1.~~—An organizational outline detailing the working relationships and responsibilities of staff.
    - 2. ~~2.~~—Documentation of individual staff training, education and experience.
    - 3. ~~3.~~—Individual job descriptions.
    - 4. ~~4.~~—Individual work schedules.
  - (g) ~~(g)~~—The provider shall provide regular supervision and/or consultation for all staff as appropriate to their responsibilities.
    - 1. ~~1.~~—The provider shall provide adequate supervision of staff and shall maintain records concerning supervised staff.
    - 2. ~~2.~~—The supervisor shall have adequate training, knowledge and experience to supervise any service performed by the supervised staff member.
- (3) ~~(3)~~—Location and Physical Plant.
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Services shall be located in areas and among other buildings which are appropriate to the services provided, the general design of which does not emphasize the service's separateness or differences from the surrounding community in such a way as to stigmatize or devalue persons.

~~(b)~~—

- (b) Service sites shall comply with applicable state and federal laws including physical accessibility for individuals with disabilities.
- (c) ~~(e)~~—Buildings shall meet all applicable fire, health, building, and safety codes.
- (d) ~~(d)~~—Requirements for ~~fire drills~~Fire Drills. The provider shall conduct fire drills at each service site at least quarterly and shall maintain written records of such fire drills.
- (e) ~~(e)~~—As appropriate, a service shall provide adequate space for administration needs, privacy in evaluation, and treatment. ~~For programs services~~ that serve distinct groups, e.g., children, separate space shall be provided for use by the distinct groups, consistent with their needs.
- (4) ~~(4)~~—Notification of Legal Proceedings. - Every provider shall report in writing to the Commissioner any legal proceeding brought against the provider or any person employed by the provider, if such proceeding arises out of circumstances related to the provision of services or would impact the ~~provider's~~provider's ability to provide such services. Such report shall be made as soon as practicable after the provider has received notice of the initiation of such legal proceeding. -
- (5) ~~(5)~~—Mandated Reporting. Provider staff shall comply with all mandated reporting requirements as required by law including reporting allegations of abuse and neglect to the Disabled Persons Protection Commission as required by M.G.L. c. 19C, Section 10; the Executive Office of Elder Affairs as required by M.G.L. c. 19A, Section 15, and the Department of Children and Families as required by M.G.L. c. 119, Sections 151A and 151B. The provider shall have a written policy and procedure for staff to file such mandated reports. The written plan shall also provide for notification to the Department of Mental Health immediately after a report has been filed alleging abuse or neglect of a person receiving services.
- ~~(5)~~(6) Emergency Procedures. For each service, a provider shall:
- (a) ~~(a)~~—Have the capacity to access staff as appropriate to provide or arrange crisis intervention and stabilization support to meet the individual needs of persons.
  - (b) ~~(b)~~—Have a written plan for providing or arranging emergency services during all hours of the service's operation.
  - (c) ~~(c)~~—Be responsible for providing or arranging transportation in an emergency situation.
  - (d) ~~(d)~~—Maintain an emergency fact sheet(s) for each person which shall be readily available to staff and held in more than one location. The emergency fact sheet shall include, to the extent available:
    1. ~~1.~~—Name (and nicknames, if any);
    2. ~~2.~~—Age;
    3. ~~3.~~—General physical characteristics, including gender identity, weight, height, build, hair and eye color;
    4. ~~4.~~—A recent photograph;
    5. ~~5.~~—General nature of abilities and physical disabilities;
    6. ~~6.~~—Strengths and limitations;
    7. ~~7.~~—Location of person's crisis plan, if any;
    8. ~~8.~~—Special medical problems, including allergies and the names and doses of medications used;
    9. ~~9.~~—Preferred language, and contact information for an interpreter, if available;
    10. ~~10.~~—Pattern of movement, if missing previously;
    11. ~~11.~~—Current addresses of family members, previous residence, place of employment, school, or day programs, and places frequented; and
    12. ~~12.~~—Name, telephone, and address of person's treating physician.
    13. ~~13.~~—The ~~person's~~person's legally authorized representative contact information, if applicable.



## SUBPART B: STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL SERVICE SITES

28.13: Physical Standards

(1) ~~General Provisions.~~ A residential service site in a service must meet the following requirements:

- (a) ~~(a)~~ The site shall be located on state property or in a residential neighborhood or other setting appropriate to the services provided, the general design of which does not emphasize the site's separateness or differences from the surrounding community in such a way as to stigmatize or devalue persons.
- (b) ~~(b)~~ The site shall meet all applicable building and sanitary, and safety requirements, including without limitation standards for persons who are classified as impaired or partially impaired in accordance with 104 CMR 28.14, as appropriate.
- (c) ~~(c)~~ The site shall provide space for all the residential functions characteristic of a comfortable and homelike environment, including cooking, dining, recreation, socializing, sleeping, bathing and storing belongings.
- (d) ~~(d)~~ The site, including its heating, plumbing, lighting and ventilation systems, furnishings and equipment shall be maintained in good repair to ensure safety and physical comfort.
- (e) ~~(e)~~ Major environmental controls, including those for lighting, plumbing, windows and shades, shall be operable by and accessible to persons.
- (f) ~~(f)~~ The site shall store medication in accordance with 104 CMR 28.06(9).
- (g) ~~(g)~~ Persons shall be provided with bedroom space adequate for sleeping, dressing, personal care, and caring for personal possessions.
  - 1. ~~1.~~ No more than two persons may occupy one bedroom.
  - 2. ~~2.~~ Smoking shall be prohibited in resident sleeping rooms.
  - 3. ~~3.~~ Each bedroom must meet minimum space requirements. Closet space shall not be included when calculating square footage:
    - a. ~~a.~~ A bedroom to be occupied by one person must be at least 100 square feet.
    - b. ~~b.~~ A bedroom to be occupied by two persons must be at least 120 square feet.
  - 4. ~~4.~~ Every bedroom shall have sufficient space to accommodate comfortably a bed, dresser, and closet space for each person.
  - 5. ~~5.~~ Bedroom may not have security chains, night latches, double cylinder dead bolts, flush bolts or surface bolts; and an allowable lock on a bedroom door must be able to be opened by means of a master key.
- (h) ~~(h)~~ Each site shall provide bathroom facilities adequate for all persons and staff to carry out normal bathroom functions, including bathing and personal care, with staff assistance as needed.
- (i) ~~(i)~~ Each site shall have one means of egress and one escape route serving each floor and leading to grade. Any proven useable path to the open air outside at grade shall be deemed acceptable as an escape route, including, but not limited to, connecting doors, porches, windows within six feet of grade, ramps, fire escapes, and balcony evacuation systems. There shall not be locks which prevent unimpeded exit on any doors which lead to a means of egress or escape route.
- (j) ~~(j)~~ Each site shall have smoke detectors and carbon monoxide detectors and fire extinguishers in accordance with the following:
  - 1. ~~1.~~ A minimum of one smoke detector shall be provided for each 1200 square feet of area, or part thereof; provided however, one smoke detector shall be located outside each bedroom;
  - 2. ~~2.~~ Carbon monoxide detectors shall be provided in accordance with the requirements of 527 CMR 1.05: *Modifications to NFPA 1 – 2012 Edition.*

- 3. ~~3.~~—A minimum of one portable fire extinguisher tagged and inspected shall be provided for each level of the site where persons served have access, including the attic and the basement, if any.
- 4. ~~4.~~—Providers are responsible for ensuring that smoke and carbon monoxide detectors and fire extinguishers are in good working condition at all times.
- (k)—~~—~~All doors leading to areas where persons are not allowed under applicable building codes shall be maintained locked by provider staff.

(2)—Capacity.— The capacity of a residential site shall be subject to approval by the Department, which may consider such factors as size, location, and other characteristics of the residence, the ages and needs of the persons, the experience and capability of the service, and the requirements of ~~the State Building Code~~ 780 CMR: *State Board of Building Regulations and Standards.*

28.14:— Self-~~Preservation~~-preservation Standards

(1)—Classification of Persons.

- (a) ~~(a)~~—Self-~~preservation~~ means the capability both mentally and physically to take action to preserve one's own life, specifically to egress the building in which one resides unassisted ~~with~~within 2½ minutes.
- (b) ~~(b)~~—The Department and Providers shall classify persons residing at each residential site as follows:
  - 1. ~~1.~~—Impaired. —An impaired person is a person who is not capable of self-~~preservation~~, who requires physical assistance to exit the building within 2½ minutes.
  - 2. ~~2.~~—Partially Impaired. —A partially impaired person is a person who is not capable of self-~~preservation~~, who is capable of exiting the building within 2½ minutes without physical assistance, but with supervision and/or instruction.
  - 3. ~~3.~~—Unimpaired. —An unimpaired person is a person who is capable of self-~~preservation~~, who is capable of exiting the building within 2½ minutes without physical assistance and/or supervision or instruction.
- (c)—Procedures and ~~documentation requirements~~Documentation Requirements for ~~person classification~~Person Classification.
  - 1. ~~1.~~—The provider shall conduct a test of the person's ability to exit the building from the person's sleeping quarters, and common areas if more remote, prior to placement into the service; except that a provider may classify a person as impaired without such a test.
  - 2. ~~2.~~—Test documentation shall include the time required to exit the building, the type of assistance required, if any, either physical or verbal, date of testing, and name of the person(s) conducting the test.
  - 3. ~~3.~~—Test results shall be documented in the person's record.
  - 4. ~~4.~~—The provider shall keep a central record of the classification of each person in the residential site.
  - 5. ~~5.~~—Except for a residence or apartment for up to four persons in which all of the residents are capable of self-~~preservation~~, testing for person classification shall be conducted at least quarterly, and may be part of the quarterly fire drill. Where quarterly fire drills are not required self-~~preservation~~ testing shall be conducted at least annually.
  - 6. ~~6.~~—No person shall have his or her status changed to a less restrictive classification without substantiating documentation for at least two consecutive tests, which shall be conducted at least one week apart.

- (2) ~~(2)~~ Self-Preservationpreservation Training. -The provider shall provide or arrange for annual training in self-preservation, including knowledge of fire safety. The provider shall maintain documentation of such training.
  - (3) ~~(3)~~ Staffing Requirements. -If a person is classified under 104 CMR 28.14(1) as impaired or partially impaired, the provider must develop and maintain a staffing pattern to ensure the safety of the person and egress of all persons within 2½ minutes.
  - (4) ~~(4)~~ Evacuation Training. -All staff shall be trained in evacuation procedures for impaired and partially impaired persons.
  - (5) ~~(5)~~ Fire Drills. The following are requirements for fire drills at residential sites.
    - (a) ~~(a)~~ -The provider shall conduct fire drills at each residential site at least quarterly, and at least two of which shall be after 6:00 P.M. and shall maintain written records of such fire drills. -If there is an over-night staff, one of the two drills after 6:00 ~~P.M.~~ P.M. must be done during the overnight shift.
    - (b) ~~(b)~~ -The provider shall maintain sufficient staff to ensure safe egress of all persons within 2½ minutes.
    - (c) ~~(c)~~ -The requirements of 104 CMR 28.14(5) shall not apply to a residential site for up to four persons -in which all of the residents are capable of self-preservation as provided in 104 CMR 28.14(1)(a).
-



SUBPART C: STANDARDS FOR COMMUNITY CRISIS STABILIZATION SERVICES

28.15: General Provisions

(1) Licensing. All providers of Community Crisis Stabilization Services (CCS) are subject to licensure by the Department pursuant to 104 CMR 28.19.

(2) Types of Licenses. Licensed providers shall be issued a single license which may incorporate one or more of the following classes:

(a) Class I. License to provide CCS services to adults, age 18 and older.

(b) Class II. License to provide CCS services to youth, age 13 up to and including age 18.

(c) Class III. License to provide CCS services to youth, up to age 12.

28.16: Community Crisis Stabilization Services for Adults (ACS).

(1) Adult Crisis Stabilization (ACS) is a sub-acute community-based mental health treatment service for adults with mental illness, substance use disorder or comorbid mental illness and substance use disorders who are in need of staff-secure, safe and structured short-term crisis stabilization and treatment in a 24-hour unlocked community treatment setting. ACS serves as a medically necessary, less restrictive and voluntary alternative to inpatient psychiatric hospitalization. Although this service is primarily designed as an alternative to and diversion from inpatient care, it may also be used as a transition from an inpatient setting, provided there is sufficient capacity, and the admission criteria are met.

(2) The primary objective of ACS is to restore or improve functioning; strengthen the resources and capacities of the individual served and family or other natural supports; provide a timely return to a natural, least restrictive setting; develop a crisis/safety and wellness/recovery plan; and facilitate linkages to medically necessary services and supports. The anticipated length of stay for this service is 7 days or less.

(3) Minimum service components shall include crisis prevention, stabilization and treatment by a multidisciplinary team; initial and continuing bio-psychosocial assessment; care coordination; psychiatric evaluation and medication management, including bridging and induction onto FDA approved medication(s) to treat opioid use disorder (MOUD) as clinically appropriate; peer support and/or other recovery-oriented services including relapse prevention and recovery maintenance counseling and education; mobilization of and coordination with family and other natural supports, community treaters, and other resources; and psycho-education, including providing education and information about recovery, wellness, crisis self-management, and how to access wellness and recovery services available in the individual's specific community.

(4) Admission Criteria. Individuals who meet the following criteria may be admitted to an adult Class I licensed service:

(a) The individual must be 18 years or older.

(b) The individual must demonstrate symptoms consistent with a diagnosis specified within the current edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), which can reasonably be expected to respond to short term, structured treatment intervention.

28.17: Community Crisis Stabilization Services for Youth (YCS)

(1) Youth Crisis Stabilization (YCS) is a sub-acute community-based mental health treatment service for youth who have emotional or behavioral issues or comorbid emotional or behavioral issues with substance use disorders who are in need of crisis stabilization in a 24-hour unlocked community treatment setting.

(2) The primary objective of YCS is to provide short-term (1-5 days) crisis stabilization, therapeutic intervention, and specialized programming with a high degree of supervision and structure. YCS is designed to improve functioning; strengthen the resources and capacities of the youth, family, and other natural supports; and ensure a timely return to the youth's previous living environment.

(3) Services shall include comprehensive assessment and treatment by a multidisciplinary team; psychiatric evaluation, substance use screenings, pharmacological assessment, nursing; individual, group, and family therapy; care coordination; family consultation; peer and family support; and discharge and transition planning, including referrals for post discharge assessment and treatment of substance use disorders. The YCS provider must develop a comprehensive, multi-disciplinary, and individualized treatment plan that is frequently reviewed and updated based on the youth's clinical status and response to treatment. The treatment plan shall include provision for the coordination of services with the youth's existing or newly established treatment provider(s).

(4) Admission Criteria. Individuals who meet the following criteria may be admitted to a YCS service for youth:

(a) The individual shall be age 13 up to and including 18 years of age for admission to a Class II licensed service and 12 years of age or younger for admission to a Class III licensed service.

(b) The individual must demonstrate symptoms consistent with a diagnosis specified in the current edition of the DSM which requires and can be reasonably expected to respond to therapeutic intervention within a brief period.

(c) The individual must be experiencing a serious emotional or behavioral challenge in the home, school, or community, and is not sufficiently stable, emotionally or behaviorally, to be treated outside of a highly structured, 24-hour therapeutic environment.

(d) The individual must require intensive treatment intervention to stabilize their acute mental health needs and need extra support, linkage and services.

28.18: Additional Requirements for all CCS Services.

Providers of Community Crisis Stabilization Services Licensed as Class I, II or III or any Combination thereof shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Hours of Operation. The service shall operate and accept admissions 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365 days per year.

(2) Admission Procedures. Within 24 hours of admission, the provider shall conduct a screening for risk including but not limited to suicide risk and substance use/misuse using standardized screening tools, complete a comprehensive assessment that includes a history of trauma including, but not limited to, physical or sexual abuse or witnessing violence, to inform and develop an individualized treatment plan and an initial transition/discharge plan and make referrals for aftercare services where clinically indicated for each person admitted to the service. A clinical formulation, psychiatric assessment, and a medication evaluation shall be completed and documented and entered in the individual's record.

(3) Staffing. In addition, to the requirements of 104 CMR 28.12(2) and 104 CMR 28.14(3), the service shall be staffed at a level sufficient to meet the clinical needs of persons admitted, as well as the administrative and ancillary services necessary for the operation of the service. Clinical staff must have sufficient education, training, and requisite professional licensure to provide the services including, but not limited to, crisis prevention and stabilization, initial and continuing biopsychosocial assessment, nursing assessments, psychiatric evaluations, care management, and medication management.

(a) The provider shall have a medical director responsible for the administration of all medical or behavioral health services performed by the service. The medical director shall be fully licensed to practice medicine under Massachusetts law, and shall be board-eligible or board-certified in psychiatry.

(b) The provider must have staff who are qualified by education, training, and experience to provide peer support, psychoeducation and assist with mobilization of family/guardian/natural supports and linkages to community resources.

(c) The provider shall have a full-time nurse manager who is a registered nurse licensed in Massachusetts.

(d) Members of the multidisciplinary treatment team must have experience, skills, and training in the acute treatment of mental health and co-occurring mental health and substance use conditions of youth and adults, commensurate with the service's applicable class of license.

(e) Staffing must include peer roles. An ACS service must have at least one full-time Adult Peer Specialist and a YCS service must have at least one full-time Young Adult Peer Mentor and Family Partner, as clinically appropriate.

(f) All staff must receive appropriate training, including training in trauma informed and trauma responsive care, behavioral support and de-escalation techniques.

(4) Staffing Pattern. The provider shall maintain a sufficient staff to patient ratio to safely care for all persons served. For services serving youth under age 18 the licensee shall maintain a staff to child ratio of 1:3 with 2 awake overnight staff and a clinician on call 24/7. Volunteers shall not be included in the staff to child ratio. Sufficient numbers and types of qualified staff shall be on duty and available at all times to provide necessary and adequate safety and care, to accept admissions during all shifts, plan transitions, and to conduct planned discharges. The CCS provider shall have a written plan that delineates, by shift, the number and qualifications of staff, including psychiatry, nursing, clinicians, social workers, and other staff in relation to its average daily census.

(a) The provider shall provide sufficient psychiatric coverage, including an attending psychiatrist who may be the medical director or another psychiatrist. The psychiatrist, who must be board-eligible or board-certified, may delegate some clinical functions to a Psychiatric APRN.

(b) Psychiatric coverage by a psychiatrist or psychiatric APRN must be available during all hours of operations, 7 days a week to provide psychiatric assessment, medication evaluations, and medication management, and contribute to the comprehensive assessment and discharge planning decisions.

(c) The psychiatrist or psychiatric APRN must be available for phone consultation within 15 minutes of request and for a face-to-face evaluation within 60 minutes of request, when clinically indicated.

(d) Staffing must include sufficient nursing staff 24 hours per day, 7 days a week, including at least a Licensed Practical Nurse on the second and third shift on weekdays and all three shifts on weekends, and master's level clinicians at least one shift per day.

(e) A staff person certified in C.P.R. and First Aid must be available on site on each shift.

(f) At least one staff person trained in the use of Naloxone shall be available on site on each shift.

(g) Staffing must also include sufficient numbers of direct care staff on all shifts.

(h) The Department may issue guidance specifying minimum numbers of staff and may determine that a staffing pattern is insufficient to fulfill the service objectives.

(5) Service components shall include: screening for substance use disorder and suicide risk, completion of a comprehensive assessment, pharmacological evaluation and treatment, comprehensive treatment and transition/discharge planning, individual, group, and family therapies, peer/family support, care coordination, use of recreation, art, or pet therapies, and daily wellness activities such as yoga, meditation, mindfulness, and exercise and development of behavioral plans and safety plans.

(6) Medication. The CCS provider shall ensure that each person has access to medications prescribed for physical or behavioral health conditions. The service site must have a Department of Mental Health issued Massachusetts Controlled Substance Registration to store medications and must comply with applicable DEA registration requirements. The CCS provider shall ensure that medication is only administered by staff who are properly licensed. The provider must have a medication reconciliation process to ensure against medication errors. All medication orders and reviews shall be properly documented in the medical record.

(7) Physical Site. The service site must provide a therapeutic and comfortable environment conducive to treatment, stabilization and recovery. In addition to the physical standards set forth in 104 CMR 28.13, the site shall provide sufficient and separate space for the provision of clinical services such as individual and group counseling sessions and sensory spaces intended for self-soothing and self-calming. The physical site must also accommodate the need for visitation, leisure and group and individual recreational activities.

(a) Restrooms shall be conveniently located and accessible and designed to permit opening a locked door from the outside in an emergency, ensure privacy through the use of partitions and doors, and provide adequate ventilation through windows or exhaust fans.

(b) The provider shall ensure that all indoor space is tobacco-free in accordance with M.G.L. c. 270, Section 22. The prohibition extends to provider-owned or leased vehicles, and personal vehicles when used to transport persons.

(c) A provider that serves children under 6 years of age shall ensure that the premises are free of lead paint.

(8) Room Assignments. The provider shall ensure that room assignments are appropriate, taking into consideration the age, gender and needs of the Person.

(9) Nutrition. The provider shall provide a nourishing and well-balanced diet to all persons, including three meals daily. The provider shall have a policy and procedure for nutritional services including the purchase, storage, preparation and serving food in a manner appropriate to the age and individuals served, including special dietary needs. The provider shall prepare menus that have been reviewed by a person who has had training in the nutritional needs of children and youth. The provider shall maintain copies of menus used.

(10) Restraint. Medication restraint, mechanical restraint or seclusion shall not be used. Emergency physical restraint shall only be used in accordance with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.05: *Prohibition of Medication and Mechanical Restraint or Seclusion; Prevention of Physical Restraint; and Requirements for Emergency Physical Restraint When Necessary.*

(11) Orientation and Training. The provider shall provide orientation and training for all new employees regarding the service's philosophy, organization, policies and services. The

licensee's policy and procedure for staff orientation shall include the characteristics of the individuals served; symptoms and behavioral signs of emotional disturbance; symptoms of drug overdose, alcohol intoxication or possible medical emergency; the service's emergency and evacuation procedures, procedures for reporting suspected incidents of child abuse and neglect and other reportable incidents; orientation in first aid and C.P.R.; training in infection control procedures, including universal precautions; and the services policies including those on human rights, restraint prevention/use, de-escalation techniques, medication, and behavioral support.

(12) CORI Checks. The provider shall comply with requirements established by the Executive Office of Health and Human Services under 101 CMR 15.00: *Criminal Offender Record Checks*. A CCS provider serving youth shall require volunteers, students, employees and employment candidates being considered for hire to sign a consent form allowing the Department of Children and Families to release information including whether their name appears on the Registry of Alleged Perpetrators.

(13) Volunteers, Student Interns and Contract Agency Staff. Volunteers and student interns may be used only as an adjunct to regular paid staff and not as a substitute for a paid work force. If the provider uses staff employed by a contract or temporary agency, the provider shall ensure that it has a qualified service organization agreement with the contract or temporary agency which specifies that the contract or temporary agency has complied with requirements established by the Executive Office of Health and Human Services under 101 CMR 15.00: *Criminal Offender Record Checks*. The provider shall also have a written policy and procedure to ensure and document that such staff receive appropriate orientation and supervision.

(14) Policies and procedures. The provider shall have written policies and procedures consistent with the requirements of 104 CMR 28.12: *Standards Applicable to All Services* and accepted standards of care for Community Crisis Stabilization Services and applicable law.

(15) Self-preservation Standards: The CCS provider shall comply with the self-preservation standards set forth in 104 CMR 28.14.

(16) Child Safety. If children are permitted on the premises for any reason, the provider shall ensure that the children are supervised at all times by an adult, and that the area where child access is permitted is safe for children.

(17) Complaints and Investigations. A person admitted to a DMH licensed CSS service shall have the right to make a complaint regarding any incident or condition which is believed to be dangerous, illegal or inhumane as those terms are defined in 104 CMR 32.00: *Investigation and Reporting Responsibilities*. Such complaints shall be reported, reviewed, investigated and resolved in accordance with the requirements of 104 CMR 32.00.

(18) Internal Investigations and Reporting. The licensee shall develop and follow written procedures for conducting internal investigations and shall immediately inform the Department orally, and in writing the next business day, of any incident or allegation connected with the service that involves the health or safety of a person in the service.

(19) Records and Confidentiality. The records of an individual receiving CCS services are confidential and shall be maintained and disclosed in conformity with applicable law, including the provisions of 104 CMR 28.09: *Records and Record Privacy*. Records of substance use treatment are subject to the requirements of 42 CFR Part 2.

(20) Transition and Discharge Planning and Linkages to Community Services. The CCS provider, treatment team, family/legally authorized representative and person served must develop a written transition and discharge plan, that includes: a brief summary of the course of

treatment including a description of treatment interventions and strategies that were effective in stabilizing the crisis, medications at discharge including an assessment of the person's ability to self-administer, and recommended aftercare services including substance use assessment and treatment emergency after hour contacts and services. The person and the person's family or legally authorized representative may participate in the development of the transition and discharge plan, as appropriate. The CCS provider shall not initiate a discharge to a shelter or the street. Should the CCS provider receive a request for such discharge from a person served, efforts to counsel the person served on the risks of discharging to a shelter or the street must be completed and documented in the record. In addition, safety assessments and crisis planning, including provisions for notification of know collateral contacts must be updated and documented.

SUBPART D: LICENSING REQUIREMENTS AND COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS

28.15:—19: General Provisions

104 CMR 28.15 through 28.17-21 describes the residential and community crisis stabilization sites that are subject to licensure, and the provisions for enforcement of Subparts A and B as to and C for all community mental health services which are operated, licensed or contracted for by the Department.

~~(1) Licensing Requirements. In accordance with M.G.L. c. 19, § 19, the Department shall issue and renew a license to operate residential sites to providers under contract with the Department and providers of private residential programs if the residential sites meet the requirements set forth in 104 CMR 28.15. For purposes of 104 CMR 28.15, a private residential program is a program not operated by or under contract to the Department that is organized primarily to provide treatment, of mental illness to persons in a residential environment that operates one or more residential sites. Treatment includes, but is not be limited to, rehabilitation, support or supervision~~

(1) Sites Subject to Licensure, Requirements.

(a) 28.19 Residential sites operated under contract with the Department: A license is required for providers under contract with the Department for each residential site where one or more persons reside, or are provided with sleeping accommodations, and the provider has a direct or indirect ownership interest, or leases or co-leases.—

1. If the provider is a guarantor of a person's residential lease, the provider is not required to obtain a residential site license for the leased property; provided, however, the Director of the service shall provide the Area Director or designee with a letter attesting that the leased property meets applicable health, safety and fire codes. For good cause the Department may require a site inspection to assess the general condition of the leased property.

2. A license is not required for residential sites located outside of the state or licensed by another ~~state~~ Massachusetts agency.

(b) Residential sites operated by private residential services: A license is required for a provider of a private residential ~~program~~ service for each residential site where one or more persons reside and the provider has a direct or indirect ownership interest, or leases or co-leases with a party other than the person residing at the residential site.

1. For purposes of 104 CMR 28.19, a private residential service is a service not operated by or under contract with the Department that is organized primarily to provide treatment, of mental illness to persons in a residential environment that operates one or more residential sites.

2. Treatment includes but is not limited to rehabilitation, support or supervision for adults with mental illness or children and youth with serious emotional disturbance.

(c) Sites operated by providers of Community Crisis Stabilization Services: A license is required for a provider of CCS for each site where such services are provided.

(d) To obtain or retain a license for a residential or crisis stabilization site a licensing applicant shall satisfy the Department that the ~~residential~~ site meets all applicable requirements of 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart B* and 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart C* and that the service ~~or program~~ of which the site is a part of meets all applicable requirements of 104 CMR 28.00: *Subpart A*.

~~(a) Operation of an Unlicensed Residential Site. When the Department has reason to believe that a provider is operating without a required residential site license; and the provider has failed to apply for a license within ten days after notice by the Department, the Department may:~~

~~1. Notify the District Attorney with jurisdiction over the provider that the provider appears to be operating in violation of M.G.L. c. 19, § 19;~~

~~2. Petition the Superior Court with jurisdiction over the provider to restrain its operation or to take such other actions as may be necessary in the interest of the persons utilizing the service;~~

~~(a) Undertake to provide alternative placements with the most adequate and appropriate alternative service arrangement available for persons as needed; or~~

3. Take such other action as it deems appropriate to ensure person health, safety or welfare.

(2) Compliance ~~With~~with 104 CMR 28.00: *Subparts A, B* and ~~B,C~~.

Services and Private Programs Operating Residential Sites or Community Crisis Stabilization Services Sites Subject to Licensure. ~~Compliance with The Office of Community Licensing shall enforce compliance with~~ the provisions of 104 CMR 28.02 through 28.12 (Subpart A) and 104 CMR 28.13 through 28.14 (Subpart B) and 104 CMR 28.15 through 28.16 (Subpart C) by all services and private programs operating ~~residential~~ sites subject to licensure ~~shall be enforced by the Office of Community Licensing, pursuant to 104 CMR 28.17.~~ Nothing in 104 CMR 28.15 ~~through 19 or 28.17 shall~~ shall preclude the Department from also taking enforcement action under a contract when appropriate or assigning enforcement of 104 CMR 28.02 through 28.12 (Subpart A) to the Area Director having primary responsibility for the contract. -

(a) Department Operated Services with Residential Sites. Compliance with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.02 through 28.12 (Subpart A) and 104 CMR 28.13 through 28.14 (Subpart B) by services operated by the Department that include residential sites shall be subject to audit by the Office of Community Licensing and enforcement by the applicable Area Director or designee.

(b) Services Not Having Residential Sites Subject to Licensure. Compliance with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.02 through 28.12 (Subpart A) by services operated or contracted for by the Department that do not have a residential site subject to licensing or otherwise subject to 104 CMR 28.15 ~~19~~(2)(b), shall be subject to audit and enforcement by the applicable Area Director or designee.

(c) ~~For the purpose of carrying out audit and enforcement responsibilities under 104 CMR 28.15~~ 19(2), Area Directors or designees shall have the same right to inspect service sites as the Department has the right to inspect residential or CCS sites under 104 CMR 28.17 ~~21~~.

(3) Waiver of a Standard for Community Services or for ~~Residential~~ Service Sites.

(a) The requirements of 104 CMR 28.00 shall be strictly enforced and shall only be waived by the Department upon approval of a written request of a provider in accordance with the provisions of 104 CMR 28.15 ~~19~~(3).

- (b) A ~~provider's~~provider's written request for a waiver of one more of the provisions of 104 CMR 28.00 must:
- 1.- Demonstrate that the health, safety or welfare of either persons or staff of the service shall not be adversely affected by granting the waiver; and
  - 2.- Provide a substitute provision or alternative standard that will result in comparable services to the persons and to which the provider agrees to be held accountable to the same degree and manner as any applicable provision of 104 CMR 28.00 or demonstrate why the waiver is in the best interest of the persons served.
- (c) The Department may grant a ~~provider's~~provider's request for waiver upon a determination that the petition meets the requirements of 104 CMR 28.15(3).
- (d) Waivers shall be granted for a specified period of time which if applicable to a licensed residential site shall not to exceed the duration of the license. A waiver may be renewed upon subsequent petition.
- (e) The granting of a waiver shall not guarantee the granting of a waiver for a subsequent period or service.
- (f) The Department may determine that one or more of the provisions of 104 CMR 28.00 is not applicable to a particular service; and may grant a waiver of such provision(s) to all such services.

28.16:—20: Process for Obtaining or Renewing a License

(1) Application Process for License or Renewal.

- (a) Any applicant seeking to obtain a license for a residential site or a Community Crisis Stabilization Service (CCS) site as specified in 104 CMR 28.00: ~~Subpart C~~ shall file an application in writing with the Department in a manner and on a form prescribed by the Department. ~~The applicant must be the agency or person with principal legal responsibility for the administration and operation of a residential site.~~
- (b) If any agency or individual operates more than one residential or CCS service site, such agency or individual must apply for a separate license for each such ~~residential~~ site.
- (c) Any agency or person seeking to renew a license shall file an application for such renewal in writing with the Department, in a manner and on a form prescribed by the Department, not less than 90 days prior to the date of expiration of its current license. It shall be the responsibility of the Department to act upon an application for renewal within the ~~90-~~day period. Failure to do so shall not invalidate a previously existing license.
- (d) A licensing applicant shall maintain the following documentation which shall be made available to the Department upon request:
1. For business corporations that are for profit, a copy of an Administration and Finance Form ~~4-A~~, together with any special or periodic reports submitted in amendment or supplementation to the annual report, as well as a copy of the Articles of Incorporation and ~~by-~~ laws.
  2. For non-~~profit~~ corporations, a copy of the last annual report filed with the Secretary of ~~State~~the Commonwealth pursuant to M.G.L. c. 180, § 26A, together with any special or periodic reports submitted in amendment or supplementation to the annual report, and a certified copy of the last annual report filed with the Office of the Attorney General pursuant to M.G.L. c. 12, § 8F; as well as, a copy of the Articles of Incorporation and ~~by-~~ laws.
  3. A list of the names of all persons with any financial interest in the provider including, but not limited to, persons with ownership interests in the building or buildings used by the provider, paid or unpaid directors, shareholders, partners, loan creditor mortgagees, salaried employees and consultants. ~~The financial interest statement shall be updated as necessary to accommodate changes.~~

~~(2) Departmental Action on Application for License or Renewal.~~ Upon receipt and review by the Department of all required documentation, and after any inspection made pursuant to 104 CMR 28.~~17~~21, the Department shall take one of the following actions:

- (a) Issue a license if no deficiencies are outstanding.
- (b) Issue a license subject to implementation by the applicant of a plan of correction approved by the Department. Failure to implement a corrective action plan in accordance



with its terms may result in suspension, revocation of the license as provided in 104 CMR 28.~~17.21~~.

(c) Issue a provisional license for residential sites not currently in operation or for which the Department cannot fully determine compliance with the requirements of 104 CMR 28.00 without an evaluation of the ~~residential~~ site in operation. -No later than 90 days after a service begins operation of a residential or CCS site under a provisional license, the Department shall conduct an inspection to determine whether to issue a license in accordance with 104 CMR 28.~~1620~~.

(d) Suspend, revoke or deny a license until such time as deficiencies are corrected.

(3) Duration of License.- Licenses issued under 104 CMR 28.16 shall be valid for a term of two years and may be renewed for like terms, subject to revocation or suspension pursuant to 104 CMR 28.~~1721~~.

(4) Change of Name, Ownership, Location or Services.

(a) -Except as approved by the Department, licenses shall not be transferable from one licensee to another individual or agency, or from one location to another.

(b) -The provider shall provide prior notification in writing to the Department of any change in name or ownership of the provider agency or program or of a licensed ~~residential~~ site.

(c) -The provider shall notify the Department in writing of any change in service affiliated with a licensed ~~residential~~ site within ten days of such change.

(d) -The provider shall notify the Department in writing if at any time it ceases to use the ~~residential~~ licensed site or of any changes in the physical plant of the ~~residential~~ site, or of any other changes in the service or program of which the ~~residential~~ licensed site is a part which is contrary to any requirement of licensure within ten days of such change or cease of use.

(e) -The failure of a provider to notify the Department of any change required by 104 CMR 28.~~1620~~(4) shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license.

~~28.17:—21:~~ Licensing, Compliance and Enforcement

(1) Departmental Inspection. -

(a) -Any employee or agent of the Department, including a consultant providing services for the Department, authorized by the Area Director or the Office of Community Licensing, may visit and inspect residential or CCS sites subject to 104 CMR 28.00, and any service site of the service or program of which the residential site is a part, to determine whether such sites are in compliance with law, including the regulations of the Department.

(b) -The Department shall inspect each licensed residential or CCS site at least annually and more frequently if deemed necessary.

(c) -Inspections should ordinarily be made with prior notice and at reasonable times, giving due regard to the privacy of the persons and the interruption that inspection may cause. -However, the Department shall have the right to inspect any site at any time without prior notice providing good cause exists.

(d) -Refusal to permit an inspection in accordance with 104 CMR 28.~~1721~~ shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of a license.

(e) -The personal belongings and clothing of persons shall not be subject to inspection by the Department; provided, however that storage spaces, including, but not limited to closets and storage areas may be inspected for purposes of determining compliance with applicable health and safety standards and the structural integrity of the site.

(f) -The scope of the Department's inspections shall include any aspect of the operation of the ~~residential~~ site or provider, and may include, but is not limited to confidential interviews with persons and staff, and examination and review of all records.

(g) -The Department shall provide a copy of the inspection report to the provider; provided, however, that confidential information concerning persons shall not be disclosed except in accordance with the confidentiality requirements of 104 CMR 28.09.

(h) –The contents of a Department inspection report are subject to the Massachusetts Public Records law, including all exemptions to disclosure.

(2) Deficiency Identification and Correction.

(a) –Whenever the Department finds that a service is not in compliance with any applicable law or regulation, other than in accordance with a waiver approved by the Department, the Department shall, if it deems the deficiency remediable, issue a corrective action order.

(b) –A correction order shall be in writing and shall include a statement of the deficiencies found, the period within which the deficiency must be corrected, and the provision of law and regulation relied upon.

(c) –Within seven days of receipt of the correction order, the provider may submit a written request to the Director of Community Licensing for administrative reconsideration of the findings or any portion thereof, which shall be granted forthwith.

(d) –If the provider fails to correct any deficiency within the period prescribed for correction, the Department may enforce its correction order under 104 CMR 28.4719 or in accordance with M.G.L. c. 19.

(e) –Nothing in ~~this section~~ 104 CMR 28.21 shall preclude the Department from also taking enforcement action under a contract when appropriate.

(3) Suspension, Revocation and Denial of Licenses. -

(a) The Department may revoke, suspend or deny issuance or renewal of a license if it finds any of the following:

1.The provider failed to comply with any applicable regulation or any applicable deficiency correction order;

2.The provider refused to admit at any time any person authorized by the Commissioner to inspect the service in accordance with 104 CMR 28.13; ~~00~~;

3.The provider refused to submit any report or to make available any records required under 104 CMR 28.00 ~~or other Department regulations~~;

4.The provider made misleading or false statements or failed to furnish information or reports required under 104 CMR 28.00 ~~or other Department regulations~~;

5.Staff or persons subject to the direction of a provider subjected a person to mistreatment as defined in 104 CMR 28.04(1).

(b) When the Department determines to suspend, revoke, or deny a license, it shall provide written notice to the applicant or licensee, notifying it of the intended action, of the grounds therefore, and of the applicant or ~~licensee's~~ licensee's right to request of the Commissioner a hearing regarding the matter conducted pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A.

(4) Suspension in Emergencies.

(a) –The Department may refuse to issue or renew or may suspend any license without providing the opportunity for a prior hearing if the failure of the provider to comply with any applicable regulations appears to have resulted in an emergency situation which endangers the life, health or safety of persons or staff.

(b) –Immediately upon such refusal or suspension, the provider shall notify the affected persons and their families, when appropriate, and ~~persons'~~ persons' legally authorized representatives, and shall immediately provide or arrange for the most adequate and appropriate alternative service arrangements available for such persons, or take such other action as may be directed by the Department, including but not limited to placing Department employees within the service, as the Department deems necessary to protect the persons.

(c) –The Department shall hold a conference with the provider and, if it has not done so before, provide a written statement as to its reasons for its action within three days of suspension or refusal to issue or renew a license.

(d) –Upon written request of an aggrieved party to the Commissioner, a hearing shall be held within a reasonable amount of time after the license is refused or suspended, in accordance with the requirements of M.G.L. c. 30A.

(5) Operation of an Unlicensed Site. When the Department has reason to believe that a provider is operating without a required site license; and the provider has failed to apply for a license within ten days after notice by the Department, the Department may:

(a) Notify the District Attorney with jurisdiction over the provider that the provider appears to be operating in violation of M.G.L. c. 19, § 19;

(b) Petition the Superior Court with jurisdiction over the provider to restrain its operation or to take such other actions as may be necessary in the interest of the persons utilizing the service;

(c) Undertake to provide alternative placements with the most adequate and appropriate alternative service arrangement available for persons as needed; or

(d) Take such other action as it deems appropriate to ensure persons health, safety or welfare.

(6) Reports and Notices. ~~Reports and Notices.~~ Private ~~residential~~ programs that have a residential or CCS site license(s) shall submit all reports or notices required under 104 CMR 28.00 to the Department's Office of Community Licensing.

REGULATORY AUTHORITY

104 CMR 28.00:— M.G.L. c. 19, §§ 1, 12, 16, ~~12~~, 18 and 19—



~~(PAGES 381 AND 382 ARE RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE.)~~